No. 24-CV-0326



Received 07/16/2024 02:36 PM Filed 07/16/2024 02:36 PM

KISHA SPENCER, APPELLANT,

v.

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA DEPARTMENT OF FOR-HIRE VEHICLES, et al., APPELLEES.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, No. 2022-CA-004395-P(MPA)

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT KISHA SPENCER

ANDRES M. GRAJALES Deputy General Counsel grajaa@afge.org

GREGORY G. WATTS* Assistant General Counsel wattsg@afge.org

Office of the General Counsel AFGE, AFL-CIO 80 F Street, N.W. Washington, D.C. 20001 (202) 639-6424

Counsel for Appellant * Lead Counsel

RULE 28(2) STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Court of Appeals should reverse the final decision of the Superior Court in this case because the lower court failed to apply the correct standard of law. This Court should, moreover, affirm the underlying decision issued by the District of Columbia Office of Employee Appeals ("OEA") that overturned the removal of Appellant Kisha Spencer ("Spencer" or "Appellant") and reinstated her to employment with the District of Columbia Department of For-Hire Vehicles ("DFHV" or "Agency"). The OEA's decision was supported by substantial evidence and was founded on credibility determinations that OEA was entitled by law to make and which the Superior Court lacked the authority to second-guess.

The OEA correctly decided that DFHV failed to prove its charges against

Spencer that she provided false statements and failed to follow instructions, and the

OEA correctly ordered that her termination be reversed. Appx315-322.¹ The

Administrative Judge ("AJ") who conducted the underlying hearing for the OEA in
this matter concluded that DFHV failed to show that Spencer knowingly and
willfully provided false statements concerning her child's school requirements,
required elements for the charge of providing false statements, based on Spencer's
credible testimony and corroborating evidence. Appx318. That corroborating

¹ Citations to the Appendix will be referenced as "Appx" followed by the corresponding Bates number.

evidence included a text message from Spencer's child's teacher, a copy of the child's detailed Individualized Education Plan ("IEP") curriculum, and multiple emails and communications between Spencer and staff from the child's school. *Id*.

The AJ also found that the DFHV's charge that Spencer failed to follow instructions was not proven because the evidence and testimony at the hearing showed that Spencer did, in fact, submit her assignments in a timely manner. Appx318-319. DFHV thus failed to prove the required "deliberate or malicious refusal to comply with...supervisory instructions" to sustain its charge. Appx319-320. The AJ's findings and conclusions constitute the OEA's initial decision, which is the decision under review before this Court². The OEA decision's reasoning is based on the AJ's findings of fact after receiving testimony and exhibits at the hearing. Those findings of fact are consistent with the evidence on the record and based on credibility determinations which the AJ was entitled to make, and which are binding on subsequent reviewers, including this Court. The OEA's decision is thus supported by substantial evidence and must be affirmed.

_

² Because DFHV's petition for review of the OEA's initial decision to the OEA Board was denied, it was the OEA's initial decision composed by the AJ which became final and was the subject to review by the courts. 6-B DCMR § 635.4. References to the AJ's findings and OEA decision's findings are referring to the same document.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The DFHV employed Spencer as a Vehicle Inspection Officer ("VIO"). Appx059. DFHV terminated Spencer from her position via a notice of final decision dated December 4, 2020. Appx056. DFHV terminated Spencer based on two alleged charges: 1) one charge of providing false statements/records and 2) one charge of failure/refusal to follow directions. *Id.* Spencer worked as a VIO for approximately fourteen years and four months at the time of the termination. Appx059. On January 4, 2021, Spencer appealed her termination to the OEA. The AJ for the OEA developed a substantial record in a hearing that took place January 25, 2022. Appx302.

With the onset of the COVID pandemic in March 2020, Spencer's child was no longer able to attend school in person and was required to continue their schooling online. Appx273. Spencer testified that according to her child's teachers, she "must be with [her child] at the time that [they're] attending the curriculum on Zoom." Appx274, Appx282. Spencer's child was subject to an IEP that resulted in her child working with multiple teachers "on different schedules that [the child meets] with...at different times [online via] Zoom." Appx273, Appx028-038. She therefore requested, and was granted, an accommodation allowing her additional time to complete and submit her VIO trainings. Appx312. The child's school ultimately told Spencer that, due to her job schedule constraints,

it would work with her and be flexible to accommodate her and her child's IEP schedule throughout the day. Appx313. Subsequently, Spencer informed DFHV that she no longer needed her scheduling accommodation. *Id*.

It was only after Spencer requested to end the accommodation that DFHV began seeking details of her child's school schedule, thereby retroactively questioning the veracity of her initial request which had already been approved and now cancelled. *Id.* Spencer provided a screenshot of her child's schedule and authorized DFHV to contact her child's teacher to discuss their schedule and needs. Appx045, Appx317. Inexplicably, DFHV did not directly contact the child's teacher and instead exchanged emails with an administrator of the school system's headquarters. Appx317. The school administrator was unable to provide any specifics regarding the schooling needs or schedule of Spencer's child and provided only general commentary that there "was no one schedule" and the unique situation meant that "many parents are precluded from being able to work as they normally would." *Id.* In the OEA decision, the AJ credited Spencer's testimony regarding her child's schooling and schedule accommodation and noted that a DFHV witness testifying on the same topic provided inconsistent testimony regarding scheduling flexibility during COVID. Appx317-318. The AJ also cited corroborating evidence admitted to the record, including the child's IEP, the school administrator emails, a communication from the child's speech pathologist, and the teacher's text message, to support Spencer's testimony regarding her child's school schedule and need for accommodation. *Id*.

At the evidentiary hearing before the AJ, Spencer also addressed her completion of training assignments and the charge of failure to follow instructions. Beginning in March 2020 with the COVID pandemic, DFHV required VIOs, including Spencer, to complete online training assignments in lieu of field work. Appx179. DFHV alleged that Spencer did not timely complete her trainings for May 12, 2020. Appx052. Spencer did, in fact complete her training assignments and submit her certificates on May 12th as instructed. Appx319. The OEA decision credits her testimony on the completion of the May 12th trainings and notes that the certificates bear the completion date of May 12th, as well. *Id*. Spencer credibly testified that she completed her training for May 12th and that she submitted proof of completion by "the end of [that] day...before 7:00 p.m." Appx268. She also submitted into evidence at the hearing five (5) training completion certificates indicating the assignments were completed on May 12, 2020. Appx040-044. Further, the DFHV employee responsible for collecting the complete training certificates testified that the date printed on the certificates indicated the date of completion which was May 12th. Appx171-172.

In the final decision of removal, DFHV expressly cited the timing of the May 12, 2020, trainings as the cause for the failure/refusal to follow instructions

charge. Appx056. Subsequently at the hearing, however, DFHV asserted that training assignments also failed to be timely completed by Spencer on May 13th and 14th. Appx319. Spencer disputed that any assignments on May 13th or 14th were included in the charge of failure/refusal to follow instructions because those dates were not specified in the Final Notice of termination as part of the charge. *Id*. Spencer and DFHV management did exchange several emails on May 13th and 14th regarding training assignments. Id. On May 13th, Spencer emailed her supervisor to inquire about the completion of the trainings and why they were different than those given to her other VIO colleagues. Id. Spencer's supervisor did not reply to her email questions until after 8 p.m. on May 13th—outside working hours. *Id*. Early the morning of May 14th, at 8:42 a.m., Spencer responded to her supervisor that she did not submit the training certificate on May 13th because she was awaiting a response to her queries. *Id.* Ultimately, Spencer timely submitted the certificates on May 14th after receiving a response and clarification from her supervisor. Appx319-320. The OEA decision held that if the May 13th and 14th assignments were included in the charge, arguendo, Spencer completed the assignments timely and acted reasonably in asking her supervisor a question about the assignments before completion. Appx320. Consequently, the OEA did not sustain the failure/refusal to follow instructions charge for those dates. Appx319-320.

On April 20, 2022, the OEA issued its initial decision finding the DFHV failed to meet its burden of proof on both charges and reversed Spencer's termination. Appx320-321. The OEA AJ, based on the totality of the evidentiary record, ordered Spencer's termination reversed and that she be reimbursed for all back pay and benefits lost. Appx322. DFHV appealed the OEA's decision via a petition for review with the OEA Board on May 25, 2022, and the OEA Board rejected the DFHV's arguments and affirmed the OEA's initial decision finding that Spencer's termination was inappropriate. Appx340-341. With the OEA Board's rejection of the DFHV's petition for review, the OEA initial decision became final. It was that OEA initial decision, with the findings of the AJ, which was the subject of the petition for review before the court below. The Superior Court granted the DFHV's petition for review in its February 29, 2024, Decision and Order and reinstated the Agency's decision to terminate Spencer. Appx026. Spencer now files this appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The issues presented to the Court to decide are as follows:

Whether the Superior Court erred when it overturned the decision of the
 District of Columbia Office of Employee Appeals reinstating Appellant
 Kisha Spencer to her employment with the District of Columbia Department
 of For-Hire Vehicles.

2. Whether this Court should affirm the decision of the District of Columbia

Office of Employee Appeals reinstating Appellant Kisha Spencer to her

employment with the District of Columbia Department of For-Hire Vehicles

because it was supported by substantial evidence.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I. This Court Must Affirm the OEA's Decision Because it is Supported by Substantial Evidence.

This Court must affirm the initial decision of the OEA reinstating Spencer and set aside the decision of the Superior Court because the OEA decision was supported by substantial evidence. Spencer submitted evidence at a hearing before an OEA administrative judge including seventeen (17) exhibits as well as the testimony of six (6) witnesses. Appx066. Both Spencer and the DFHV presented witnesses and exhibits, and each side had the opportunity to examine the other's evidentiary submissions and cross examine the witnesses. *Id.* Based on this substantial record, the AJ recorded her findings in the OEA decision which found that DFHV failed to prove the two charges against Spencer and reversed her termination. Appx322. In the OEA decision, the AJ credited Spencer's testimony over the DFHV witnesses, particularly in light of the corroborating evidence on the record. Appx317-321. The AJ also noted there were legitimate "questions about the efficiency and accuracy of [DFHV's] process of the administration of

[Spencer's termination]." Appx318. This Court must affirm the OEA's decision because it is based on substantial evidence.

A. The OEA's Holding That DFHV Failed to Prove the Charge of False Statements/Records is Supported by Substantial Evidence.

The OEA's finding that the DFHV failed to prove the charge of False Statements/Records against Spencer is supported by substantial evidence. The AJ evaluated the testimony and evidence submitted at the hearing and correctly found that the information Spencer provided to DFHV regarding her child's school schedule was credible and supported by evidence. Appx317-318. At issue in the charge of false statements/records was Spencer's request for an accommodation in her work schedule due to the needs of her child's variable online school schedule due to the IEP in place. Appx312. The record shows the IEP required her child to work with several teachers throughout the day at different times, "including additional training and teaching outside of normal class hours." Appx028-038.

The AJ also noted that the DFHV failed to directly contact the child's teacher to confirm the education schedule. Appx744. The AJ stated that, based on the credible testimony from Spencer, DFHV "failed to show that [Spencer] knowingly and willfully provided false statements/records." *Id*. The findings of the OEA must be afforded deference and the OEA decision affirmed because it is supported by substantial evidence.

B. The OEA's Finding That DFHV Failed to Prove the Charge of Failure/Refusal to Follow Instructions is Supported by Substantial Evidence.

The AJ's findings that DFHV failed to prove the charge of failure/refusal to follow instructions were supported by substantial evidence. The charge of failure/refusal to follow instructions involved the DFHV's incorrect assertion that Spencer did not complete her training assignments as required. Appx318.

Specifically, DFHV asserted that Spencer failed to timely complete and submit her online training on May 12, 2020. *Id.* Spencer did, in fact complete her training assignments and submit her certificates on May 12th. Appx319. The OEA decision credits her testimony on the completion of the May 12th trainings and notes that the certificates bear the completion date of May 12th, as well. *Id.* A DFHV employee's testimony corroborated Spencer's testimony that the date of completion for her training certificates was May 12th. *Id.*

Likewise, the OEA found that DFHV failed to prove the charge of failure to follow instructions regarding Spencer's May 13th and 14th training assignments.

Appx319. The OEA decision noted that the completion of the May 13th and 14th assignments was not included in the proposed removal, but still found that Spencer's completion of these assignments was reasonable and did not support the charge. *Id.* Specifically, Spencer emailed her supervisor questions regarding her May 13th assignments but did not receive a response to her inquiry until after

business hours. *Id.* On May 14th, after receiving the response from the supervisor, Spencer timely completed her May 13th and 14th assignments that day. *Id.* The OEA AJ credited Spencer's testimony in this regard and cited the email exchanges with her supervisor as evidence. *Id.* The OEA decision held that the DFHV failed to prove the failure/refusal to follow instructions charge for any of the dates. Appx319-320.

The OEA ultimately correctly held that all charges against Spencer were not sustained and ordered a reversal of the termination and the reimbursement of all back pay and benefits lost as a cause of the termination. Appx322. The OEA's findings of fact and credibility determinations are due deference and its decision is supported by substantial evidence. Accordingly, the Court must affirm the OEA decision and overturn the decision of the Superior Court.

C. The Superior Court's Decision Failed to Apply the Correct Standard of Law when it Failed to Give Deference to the OEA's Findings of Fact and Credibility.

The Superior Court erred because it did not defer to the factual findings and credibility determinations of the OEA decision. Instead, the court discredited the OEA findings and substituted its own version of the facts to support a contrary conclusion. A reviewing court is confined to the administrative record before it and is bound to give deference to the factual findings of the OEA. The Superior Court was therefore required to affirm the decision of the OEA because it was

supported by substantial evidence. Further, the court must still affirm an OEA decision supported by substantial evidence even when the record could support a contrary finding.

Specifically, the Superior Court failed to credit, *inter alia*, the OEA findings regarding Spencer's timely completion of training assignments on May 12-14, 2020, as well as Spencer's need for a schedule accommodation due to her child's IEP and special needs education. The OEA findings of fact and credibility determinations are binding on a reviewing court, including the Superior Court and this Court. Consequently, the Superior Court erred when it failed to accept the facts and credibility determinations made by the AJ in the OEA decision. This Court should overturn the decision of the Superior Court and affirm the OEA's decision reinstating Spencer.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court must conduct the "identical review that [it] would undertake if this appeal had been heard initially in this [C]ourt" as in the Superior Court. *D.C. Gen. Hosp. v. D.C. Off. of Emp. Appeals*, 548 A.2d 70, 73 (D.C. 1988), citing *Kegley v. District of Columbia*, 440 A.2d 1013, 1019 (D.C.1982). In doing so, this

Court must "confine [itself] strictly to the administrative record" developed at the

OEA and not conduct its own fact-finding. *Walker v. D.C. Off. of Emp. Appeals*,

310 A.3d 597, 599 (D.C. 2024) (citations omitted).

This Court must affirm the initial decision of the OEA when the decision is supported by substantial evidence. Dupree v. D.C. Off. of Emp. Appeals, 36 A.3d 826, 831 (D.C. 2011) (citations omitted); Love v. D.C. Off. of Emp. Appeals, 90 A.3d 412, 421 (D.C. 2014) (The court "will affirm its decision so long as [it] is supported by substantial evidence in the record and otherwise in accordance with law, including conclusions of law that follow rationally from OEA's findings."). Substantial evidence is "such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support" the conclusion. Jahr v. Office of Emp. Appeals, 19 A.3d 334, 340 (D.C. 2011). Further, this Court must affirm OEA's decision even if the Court finds that the record could support a different result than that reached by the OEA. Brown v. Watts, 993 A.2d 529, 533 (D.C. 2010) ("Because the OEA's findings were supported by substantial evidence in the record and its decision was neither arbitrary nor capricious, we must uphold the OEA's decision even though the record might also support a contrary conclusion.").

The findings of fact and credibility determinations made by the AJ in the OEA decision are entitled to deference and are **binding** on subsequent reviewers, including this Court. *Dep't of Pub. Works v. Colbert*, 874 A.2d 353, 358 (D.C. 2005). Likewise, this Court will overturn a ruling of the Superior Court that does not provide appropriate deference to an OEA decision supported by substantial evidence. *Love*, 90 A.3d at 415; *Brown v. Watts*, 993 A.2d at 532–33 (overturning

decision of district court and affirming the decision of the OEA because the OEA decision was based on substantial evidence even when the record can support a contrary finding.).

Reflecting the high standard necessary for this Court to set aside an OEA decision, a court may only reverse a decision of the OEA if it is arbitrary, capricious, or an abuse of discretion—a fate reserved for only the most egregious OEA decisions. Dupree, 36 A.3d at 831; Jahr, 19 A.3d at 340. D.C. Metro. Police Dep't v. Broadus, 560 A.2d 501, 508 (D.C. 1989) (Court reversed OEA's decision to end the suspension without pay of a DC police officer based on erroneous ruling that a criminal indictment could not be considered as proof of misconduct); District of Columbia General Hospital v. Office of Employee Appeals, 548 A.2d 70, 77 (D.C.1988) (A court may only reverse the OEA's decision for evidence it deems not substantial when it is "so 'highly questionable in the light of common experience and knowledge' that it [is] unworthy of belief.") (emphasis added). But, to be sure, this Court must affirm a decision of the OEA that is supported by substantial evidence even if the decision contains errors. Anjuwan v. District of Columbia Dep't of Pub. Works, 729 A.2d 883, 886 (D.C.1998) (upholding an OEA's decision to terminate an employee despite the OEA's violation of its statute because the error "did not impair the fairness of the proceedings or the correctness of the action taken").

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT MUST AFFIRM OEA'S DECISION BECAUSE IT IS SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE.

The OEA's decision finding that DFHV failed to prove the charges of false statements/records and failure/refusal to follow instructions is supported by substantial evidence and must therefore be affirmed. *Dupree*, 36 A.3d at 831 (citations omitted).

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