No. 24-CV-326



### KISHA SPENCER, APPELLANT,

V.

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA DEPARTMENT OF FOR-HIRE VEHICLES, et al., APPELLES.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

# BRIEF FOR APPELLEE THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA DEPARTMENT OF FOR-HIRE VEHICLES

BRIAN L. SCHWALB Attorney General for the District of Columbia

CAROLINE S. VAN ZILE Solicitor General

ASHWIN P. PHATAK Principal Deputy Solicitor General

CARL J. SCHIFFERLE Deputy Solicitor General

\*ALEX FUMELLI Assistant Attorney General Bar Number 90011378 Office of the Solicitor General

Office of the Attorney General 400 6th Street NW, Suite 8100 Washington, D.C. 20001 (202) 724-5671 alex.fumelli@dc.gov

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

2. Spencer's discipline can be upheld based on her failure to timely complete her May 13 assignments alone, and she has forfeited any objection to considering those assignments in the context of this appeal. Before the AJ, Spencer attempted to limit the scope of questioning to her alleged failures to complete work assigned on May 12. She contended that the notice of proposed separation had contemplated her May 12 failures only. After the OEA Board and the Superior Court disagreed, she abandoned that objection. Nowhere in her opening brief does she allege a legal defect in any tribunal's consideration of the May 13 discipline. As a result, she has forfeited any chance to reraise the claim in response to DFHV's brief.

In any event, the charges amply put Spencer on notice that her May 13 conduct was an independent basis for punishment. The written notice referenced incomplete trainings on both May 12 and May 13, then alleged, without limitation, that Spencer "intentionally did not complete the trainings." SA 18. No less tellingly, the notice cited Spencer's refusal to work based on purported differences between her trainings and her colleagues'—a refusal that occurred on May 13, and which encompassed the May 13 trainings. Those trainings were therefore fairly incorporated in the notice of proposed separation and were an appropriate basis for discipline.

3. Spencer has also forfeited any challenge to the Superior Court's determination that, if the charge for refusal to follow instructions is sustained, the penalty of termination must be reinstated. In upholding the penalty of termination,

the court below discussed in detail the OEA's limited authority to interfere with an agency's selection of penalty, and it ruled that the penalty was both reasonable and within DFHV's discretion. That conclusion is left unchallenged in Spencer's opening brief.

It is also the only reasonable conclusion for a tribunal to draw. Spencer had a long history of insubordination—three cases, in fact, within two years—and DFHV made efforts to accommodate her challenges in completing the assignments. The OEA ignored this context and even misapprehended the essential facts, treating Spencer's refusal as a second recent infraction instead of her third. Its conclusion that termination was an impermissible penalty for Spencer's insubordination was legally erroneous and not supported by substantial evidence.

#### **ARGUMENT**

- I. DFHV Properly Terminated Spencer For Refusing To Complete Her May 13 Training Assignments.
  - A. The OEA committed legal error in excusing Spencer's undisputed refusal to comply with supervisor instructions.

Spencer was properly terminated from employment for her violation of 6-B DCMR § 1607.2(d)(2), which contemplates "[d]eliberate or malicious refusal to comply with rules, regulations, written procedures or proper supervisory instructions" and, in the case of "subsequent occurrences," recommends penalties ranging from a 14-day suspension to removal. This offense alone was a sufficient basis to end her employment because, even as to a first occurrence, termination is an

appropriate penalty. 6-B DCMR § 1607.2(d)(2). In support of this charge, the notice of proposed separation alleged that Spencer had ignored Bowden's instruction "to complete and submit May 12th's trainings on May 13th along with that day's completed trainings," and that Spencer, believing that "it was unfair that [she was] assigned those trainings," "still did not complete the trainings... after it was explained to [her] why [her] trainings differed." SA 18.

While the record is inconsistent as to Spencer's timely completion of the trainings assigned for *May 12*—especially given her own apparent contemporaneous admission to her supervisor that she had not completed them—there is no such dispute as to whether she timely completed her *May 13* trainings. As the DFHV hearing officer, the AJ, the OEA Board, and the Superior Court all agreed, Spencer refused to complete those trainings in a timely fashion because she felt that her supervisor's orders were somehow unfair. App. 319-20; SA 37; App. 18-19. This conscious choice to disobey is the very definition of a "deliberate" refusal.

"[A]n employee does not have the unfettered right to disregard an order merely because there is substantial reason to believe that the order is not proper; rather, he must first comply with the order and then register his complaint or grievance, except in certain limited circumstances where obedience would place the employee in a clearly dangerous situation, or when complying with the order would cause irreparable harm, neither of which are present here." *Bowen v. Dep't of Navy*,

112 M.S.P.R. 607, 617 (M.S.P.B. Oct. 30, 2009); see Washington v. Dep't of Veterans Affs., 2023 WL 2025527 at \*2 (M.S.P.B. Feb. 15, 2023) (applying the same rule where employee was charged with failure to follow instructions and delay in carrying out an assigned duty); Pedeleose v. Dep't of Def., 110 M.S.P.R. 508, 510, 518 (M.S.P.B. Feb. 12, 2009) (applying the same rule where employee was charged with refusal to cooperate in an agency investigation, insubordination, and failure to follow instructions).

"This rule is popularly known as 'work now, grieve later' or 'obey now, grieve later." *Blunt v. D.C. Dep't of Parks & Recreation*, OEA No. 1601-0167-16, Op. at 25 (Sept. 30, 2019).<sup>3</sup> "The rule reflects the fundamental management right to expect that its decisions will be obeyed and its instructions carried out," *Pedeleose*, 110 M.S.P.R. at 516 (citing *Nagel v. Dep't of Health & Hum. Servs.*, 707 F.2d 1384, 1387 (Fed. Cir. 1983)), and "has long been recognized as one that is necessary to an agency's ability to effectively manage the workplace," *Pedeleose*, 110 M.S.P.R. at 516. "[T]he exceptions [to the rule] are few and place a heavy burden on the employee to establish." *Blunt*, OEA No. 1601-0167-16, Op. at 25. "There is no corresponding requirement placed on an employer to show that harm will result if

The decision is available at https://tinyurl.com/2duj27d6. It was affirmed by the OEA Board on June 30, 2020, in an opinion and order available at https://tinyurl.com/2wurbhfa.

the directive is not obeyed." *Id.* Thus, "[t]he burden is solely on the employee to establish 'extreme or unusual circumstances,' such as irreparable harm and immediate danger that would ensue if the compliance is required." *Id.* (citing *Fleckenstein v. Dep't of the Army*, 63 M.S.P.R. 470 (M.S.P.B. July 5, 1994)).

Spencer does not—and cannot—claim that compliance would have been dangerous or caused irreparable harm. All that she alleges is that she acted "reasonabl[y]" in "wait[ing] for her supervisor's answer" to her inquiry about why her trainings differed from that of other VIOs, who took trainings during the times that Spencer said she was unavailable. Br. 22. As just discussed, this is a legally insufficient basis to defeat a charge of refusing to follow instructions. Spencer falls well short of her heavy burden of justifying her insubordination.

Although Spencer relies principally on *Raphael v. Okyiri*, 740 A.2d 935 (D.C. 1999), that reliance is entirely misplaced. *Okyiri* reaffirms that "there can be no doubt that an employee may be discharged for failure to obey valid instructions, or that a discharge for insubordination will promote the efficiency of the service." *Okyiri*, 740 A.2d at 946 (quoting *Meehan v. Macy*, 392 F.2d 822, 836 (D.C. Cir. 1968)). It further makes clear that "an employee's subjective feeling that an order from her superior is unlawful or unreasonable" does not "permit[] her to disobey it with impunity." *Id.* at 947. As this Court explained, Okyiri's refusal to certify a payment voucher because she believed it to be an unlawful duplicate payment was

not obviously permissible, *id.* at 946, but certain relevant factors tilted the question in Okyiri's favor. For example, under a mayor's memorandum, Okyiri would be held personally liable for any false certifications. *Id.* at 944, 946. And her attempts to corroborate the validity of the voucher had been met first with silence and later with an order to approve the voucher "regardless of any lack of documentation, and with no questions asked." *Id.* at 946. In other words, Okyiri had been placed in "a very difficult position," *id.* at 946—one where compliance would, thanks to the mayor's memorandum, subject her to irreparable financial harm.

Spencer was in no such position. There is no suggestion that completion of her assigned training would have somehow been unlawful. Unlike Okyiri, Spencer had not been asked to certify the payment of public funds based on a legally dubious request. And Spencer's reliance on Bowden's order would not have caused any irreparable harm. At most it would have cost her two hours of her workday, when she apparently had no other work assigned and had to take comparable training of similar length in any event. Simply put, the AJ's forgiveness of Spencer's insubordination does not square with the holdings of *Bowen*, *Pedeleose*, and their progeny.

This dearth of analysis is all the more glaring because, as a purely legal determination, it is subject to *de novo* review. *Dupree*, 132 A.3d at 154 ("Questions of law . . . are reviewed *de novo*."). The AJ resolved no dispute of fact when she

determined that it was not "unreasonable for Employee to have waited for an answer" before complying with her supervisor's directive. App. 320. Indeed, as far as the May 13 assignments were concerned, the parties had no disagreement over whether or when Spencer had complied with Bowden's order. The only question was whether that failure was excusable under established case law—a legal question wholly suitable for full appellate review. *See Simms v. United States*, 41 A.3d 482, 486 (D.C. 2012) ("[T]he trial court is in the best position to resolve any factual disputes. But this court is best situated [to make legal determinations] 'through reasoning, comparison with like cases, and review of a trial court record." (quoting *Davis v. United States*, 564 A.2d 31, 36 (D.C. 1989))).

Were employees permitted to thwart supervisors' time-sensitive directives through the ready expedient of posing questions and awaiting answers, charges of failure or refusal to follow instructions would be unenforceable, and agencies' work would too easily grind to a halt. Spencer's refusal to comply with a lawful order was no less a refusal because she preferred to seek a second opinion from her union on whether to comply. If Spencer were to prevail here, it would broaden the very narrow exception to the "work now, grieve later" rule "in a way that threatens to make the exception the rule." *Pedeleose*, 110 M.S.P.R. at 518. The Court should correct the OEA's departure from the established legal rule.

# B. Any objection to the Superior Court's consideration of Spencer's refusal to complete the May 13 trainings is not preserved for this Court's review.

In the hearing before the AJ, Spencer's counsel took the position that the notice of proposed adverse action had contemplated only Spencer's purported refusal to complete the *May 12* assignments—and that any reference to her May 13 violations was beyond the scope of both the notice of proposed separation and the hearing. As discussed above, the AJ's response to those objections was vague—and since then, every tribunal and every brief has addressed whether, on the merits, Spencer's insubordination as to the May 13 assignments violated 6-B DCMR § 1607.2(d)(2). For her part, Spencer has ceased objecting.

As a result, Spencer may not now urge that her refusal to timely submit her May 13 assignments is beyond the scope of this case. Indeed, "[i]t is a basic principle of appellate jurisprudence that points not urged on appeal are deemed to be waived." *Rose v. United States*, 629 A.2d 526, 535 (D.C. 1993). After the Superior Court held that Spencer's May 13 violations alone justified her termination, she did not allege in her opening brief that the court had erred simply by considering those violations in the first place. Her only oblique reference to the May 12/May 13 question was a footnote—similar to a footnote in her Superior Court brief, 5/13/23 Br. 14 n.5—explaining that the OEA had considered allegations pertaining to the May 13 assignments. Br. 20 n.3. And arguments raised only in footnotes are

generally forfeited, especially when not developed through discussion and application of governing legal standards. *See Aquinnah/Gay Head Cmty. Ass'n v. Wampanoag Tribe of Gay Head (Aquinnah)*, 989 F.3d 72, 80 (1st Cir. 2021) (finding argument addressed in a single footnote in opening brief forfeited); *SmithKline Beecham Corp. v. Apotex Corp.*, 439 F.3d 1312, 1320 (Fed. Cir. 2006) (collecting cases for same principle). Spencer said no more—and then proceeded to argue that her failure to follow the May 13 instructions had not been proven on the merits. Br. 22.

This mere explanation of the OEA's reasoning, alleging no error of law, is not sufficient to avoid forfeiture. *See Evans v. United States*, 304 A.3d 211, 219 (D.C. 2023) ("To preserve an issue for appellate review, a party generally must raise the complained-of error in the trial court in a manner that is specific enough to direct the judge's attention to the correct rule of law." (internal quotation marks omitted)); *Graham v. United States*, 12 A.3d 1159, 1165 n.9 (D.C. 2011) ("It is not enough merely to mention a possible argument in the most skeletal way, leaving the court to do counsel's work, create the ossature for the argument, and put flesh on its bones."). And even if Spencer were to finally raise an objection in her reply brief, that would not be permitted, as it is an "established and controlling principle of appellate review that a party may not raise new arguments in its reply brief." *In re Huber*, 708 A.2d 259, 260 n.1 (D.C. 1998).

Even Spencer's brief in Superior Court falls short of asserting the same claim. There, she inserted a remark in her "Statement of the Case" that "any assignments on May 13th or 14th" cannot "be used to support a charge of failure/refusal to follow instructions because those dates were not specified in the Final Notice of termination." 5/13/23 Br. 6. But apart from a version of the explanatory footnote discussed above, Spencer never picked up the question in the argument section of her brief below—and never asserted a point of law that the OEA would have violated by considering the May 13 violations on the merits. *See Evans*, 304 A.3d at 219.

The Superior Court's consideration of those violations on the merits was, in fact, reasonable and appropriate—and it followed as naturally from the case's posture as it did from its facts. That DFHV had charged Spencer based on her May 13 refusals as well as her May 12 refusals was apparent from the notice of proposed separation. The notice referenced both sets of trainings, then alleged, without limitation, that Spencer "intentionally did not complete the trainings." SA 18. To the OEA Board, this constituted an "explicit[] reference [to May 13] in the proposed notice." App. 336. No less tellingly, the notice cited Spencer's refusal to work based on purported differences between her trainings and her colleagues'—a refusal that occurred on May 13, and which encompassed the May 13 trainings.

The Superior Court, the OEA Board, and the DFHV hearing officer all treated Spencer's failure to timely complete the May 13 trainings as an independent basis

for her separation. App. 18-19, 336. The AJ's decision in no way changes that analysis. The AJ agreed during the hearing that DFHV should limit its questions to the charges "as listed in the documents," App. 109-110, but she did not contemporaneously opine on whether the May 13 charges were so listed—and at no point did she directly sustain an objection on the grounds that the May 13 assignments were off-limits. Even when, in her initial decision, she remarked that "the notice does not cite [May 13] as the misconduct," App. 319, she did not conclude that consideration of May 13-related insubordination was impermissible. Instead, she proceeded to discuss why, on the merits, Spencer's insubordination as to the May 13 assignments should be excused.

# C. Spencer has also forfeited any challenge to the Superior Court's determination that, if the charge for refusal to follow instructions is sustained, the penalty of termination must be reinstated.

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